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Plaintiffs, Kirk Dahl, Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit, Helmut
Goeppinger, Rufus Orr, Robert Zimmerman, and City of Omaha Police and Fire Retirement System
(collectively, “Plaintiffs”), on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, by and through
their undersigned attorneys, allege the following for their Fifth Amended Class Action Complaint for
Violations of the Federal Antitrust Laws:

INTRODUCTION

1. This action challenges a market allocation and bid-rigging conspiracy that violates
Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §1. Plaintiffs are former shareholders of certain public
companies who sold their shares to the Defendant private equity firms in large leveraged buyouts
(“LBOs”) announced between 2003 and 2007 (“the Conspiratorial Era”). Rather than compete,
Defendants agreed to work together to allocate deal outcomes and purchase the target companies at
artificially suppressed prices, depriving shareholders of billions of dollars.

2. Defendants’ conspiracy involves 19 LBOs of large publicly-held companies, and
eight related transactions.! The 19 LBOs include PanAmSat, AMC, SunGard, Neiman Marcus,
Michaels Stores, Aramark, Kinder Morgan, HCA, Freescale, Toys “R” Us, Texas Genco, Education
Management, Univision, Harrah’s, Clear Channel, Sabre, Biomet, TXU, and Alltel. The other eight
transactions, in which Defendants purchased target companies that were not LBOs, include Philips
Semiconductor, Loews, Vivendi, Community Health Systems, Nalco, Cablecom, Susquehanna and

Warner Music. These LBOs and transactions were not separate, isolated events; rather, they were

: As set forth in Plaintiffs’ Overarching Conspiracy Class definition, Plaintiffs seek damages

and other relief for only 17 of the LBOs. Specifically, Plaintiffs do not seek damages and other
relief for the PanAmSat or Texas Genco LBOs.
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interconnected deals that Defendants carefully planned, coordinated and tracked as part of their
ongoing conspiracy.
3. To implement their conspiracy, Defendants agreed to certain rules and conduct, often

"2 and “professional courtesy.”” These rules governed how Defendants

referred to as “club etiquette
conducted large LBOs and related buyout transactions. By following these rules and acting contrary
to their individual and unitary self-interests, Defendants suppressed price competition for large
LBOs.

4. The overarching rule by which Defendants carried out their unlawful agreement was
the formation of bidding “clubs” or “consortia,” through which they joined together to take target

companies private at a lower price than would have prevailed had they vigorously competed.

Forming clubs enabled Defendants to suppress price competition by making it easier for them to:

o allocate LBOs and buyout transactions among themselves;
. ensure no Defendant “jumped” deals;’
o ensure no Defendant “ropp/ed]” bids;’

2 GSPE00367587-88.

3 April 2, 2010 Deposition Transcript of Glenn H. Hutchins (“Hutchins Depo.”) at 119:16-
120:5.

“Jumping a deal” occurs when a potential purchaser(s) enters the sale process at a late stage
of negotiations when the target company and another potential purchaser are close to a deal. Deal
jumping potentially causes “a change in the deal process whereby the purchase price could change,
more likely than not, increase.” Deposition Transcript of Kenneth Hao, taken December 4, 2009
(“Hao Depo.”) at 154:24-155:6.
> A “topping bid” is a bid submitted by a competing firm that is higher than the bid accepted
by the target company’s board. Declaration of Christopher M. Burke in Support of Plaintiffs’
Memorandum in Support of Their Motion for Leave to Complete Fact Discovery on the Remaining
Deals and Amend the Complaint to Conform to the Evidence (“Burke Decl.”), Ex. O,
GSPE00086935-65 at 35 (suggesting “that the market does not expect a strategic topping bid”
during the 50-day go-shop period in the Freescale deal).

22
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o enable Defendants to rig the bidding in auctions; and

o ensure that “losers” were paid back for adhering to the conspiracy.

As Defendant TPG’s founder David Bonderman® candidly observed, formation of such
“[c]onsortia . . . limits bidding” and ensures that “[there ’s] less competition for the biggest deals.””

5. KKR Co-Founder and Co-CEO George Roberts could not identify a single instance
during the 2003-2007 time period where KKR made a bid after a signed agreement was entered by
another private equity firm.?

6. The $31 billion buyout of HCA illustrates how the operation of Defendants’
conspiracy. On July 24, 2006, at the height of the conspiracy, a consortium comprised of
Defendants KKR and Bain, along with co-conspirator Merrill Lynch, announced their plan to acquire
HCA. To ensure the deal was consummated, KKR expressly requested “the industry to step down
on HCA.”®

7. The other private equity firms followed KKR’s directive and agreed not to bid for

666

HCA. Immediately after the announcement and during the 50-day “‘go shop’” period when other
Defendants had the opportunity to submit competing bids for HCA, James Attwood, a managing

director at Carlyle, informed Alexander Navab, a managing director at KKR, that Carlyle would not

6 For ease of reference, an alphabetized list of individuals, titles and firms is attached hereto as

Appendix 1. Although titles may vary across Defendants (i.e., “managing director,” “partners,” or
“U.S. member™), the vast majority of the individuals listed on the chart and quoted in the Complaint
are senior personnel.

7 Andrew Ross Sorkin, Dealbook: Colluding or Not, Private Equity Firms are Shaken
(Oct. 22, 2006). See also TPG-E-0000381393 — 429 at 401.

8 Roberts Depo. at 160:13-20; Carlyle’s co-head of U.S. Buyouts said the same thing. Holt
Depo. At 104:17 — 105:5.

? TCG0216411.
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compete for HCA.'® Likewise, Defendants Blackstone, TPG and Goldman Sachs informed KKR
that they would not compete for HCA. Defendants adhered to their conspiracy not to compete on
large LBOs, even though they all viewed HCA as an attractive asset. Blackstone went so far as to

»!1 Nevertheless, it did not compete for

state that KKR and Bain’s purchase was “highway robbery.
HCA.

8. HCA illustrates that Defendants would forego competing for a potentially lucrative
deal — even one where the purchase price was “highway robbery” — to reap the long term financial
gains from collusion. Two TPG senior executives discussing TPG’s decision not to compete against
KKR and Bain for HCA admit this fact: “A{l we can do is do [u]nto others as we want them to do
unto us . . . it will pay off in the long run even though it feels bad in the short run.”?

0. Reinforcing the ties among Defendants were the close professional and personal
relationships between Defendants’ founders and senior executives, many of whom worked at each
others’ firms, put numerous deals together, sat on company boards together, and invested in each
other’s funds. Defendants openly advertised their interpersonal relationships with other firms and
claimed that the benefits of club deals were to “reduce competition in auctions.”

10.  The close ties among Defendants’ senior executives allowed them to police their

conspiratorial agreement, rewarding co-conspirators for following the agreement and punishing

those who did not. Defendants maintained detailed “scorecards” and otherwise communicated with

10 TCG0236888 (Attwood states: “We are NOT forming a competing group (although we have

received many calls), we are not signing an NDA, we are not taking any info and we will not in any
way interfere with your deal.”).

" BX-0658842.

' TPG-E-0000096555.

B KKR DAHL 000524307-16 at 12; KKR DAHL 000538771-72 at 71.

-4-
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each other about the various quid pro quos (paybacks) owed to and from each Defendant.
Reciprocity was not a hope; it was an expectation and the glue that bound the conspiracy together.
For example, KKR co-founder George Roberts suggested to TPG co-founder James Coulter that
their firms meet and discuss opportunities to team up and collaborate on deals.'* The luncheon
occurred in Spring 2006. As Silver Lake co-founder Glenn Hutchins wrote to Blackstone President
Tony James regarding the SunGard LBO, “Sun/GJard reciprocation ... we invited you into
Sun[GJard and have a reasonable expectation of your reciprocating.”"

11.  The winners were the private equity firms, and the losers were shareholders, whose
shares the Defendants had acquired deceptively and at artificially reduced prices as a result of the
collusion. The measure of harm the shareholders suffered is the difference between the price the
shareholders received for their shares and the price they would have received “but for” Defendants’
conspiracy. These “but for” prices are reasonably ascertainable by the application of well-
recognized principles of economics. Recent economic scholarship and analyses confirm that
shareholders received far lower prices in LBOs than they would have in a competitive market during
the Conspiratorial Era. The economic evidence, when combined with the factual evidence
uncovered during discovery, makes clear that Defendants’ collusion directly caused significant
economic losses to Plaintiffs and the other shareholders in this case.

12.  Defendants recognized that their collusive conduct damaged shareholders. TPG co-
founder James Coulter made clear during the SunGard deal that being “aggressive” in competing

only makes “enemies” of other private equity firms and “benefits noone [sic] but the. ..
y p q

14 Roberts Depo. at 188:16-23, “I suggested to Jim Coulter that we get together, have a lunch,

and see what other opportunities are out there that we could work together.”

15 BX-1199536-38 at 36.
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shareholders.”'® Steve Wise of Carlyle expressed Carlyle’s reason for not competing for HCA, “the
likely outcome is forcing KKR and Bain to pay upwards of $1 billion more and souring two
relationships.”"’ And Larry Berg of Apollo stated why Apollo would not compete for Aramark,
“we’d probably spend time and money and piss off friends [other PE firms] and they’d pay a few

»18 T ikewise, Blackstone’s President Tony James bluntly

bucks more and we’d get nothing.
confirmed the financial advantages of refraining from competing when he wrote to KKR co-founder
George Roberts: “We would much rather work with you guys than against you. Together we can be
unstoppable but in opposition we can cost each other a lot of money.”"

13.  Defendants’ anticompetitive conduct has attracted the attention of the Department of
Justice. In late 2006, the Antitrust Division launched an investigation focusing on whether joint
bidding by private equity consortia in buyout deals, including those described herein, stifled
competition and diminished prices paid to shareholders. The Department of Justice has since issued
Civil Investigative Demands to a number of private equity firms, including Silver Lake, KKR and
Carlyle.

THE PARTIES

Plaintiffs

14.  Plaintiff Police and Fire Retirement System of the City of Detroit (“Detroit™) is
located in Wayne County, Michigan and is a public retirement trust fund organized under the laws of

the State of Michigan. Detroit tendered shares to Defendants and/or their co-conspirators in the

'®  TPG-E-0000002681-82 at 81.
17 TCG0208667.

18 APOLLO104805.

19 BX-0430719.
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PanAmSat LBO, SunGard LBO, Neiman Marcus LBO, Michaels Stores LBO, Freescale LBO, HCA
LBO, Aramark LBO, Kinder Morgan LBO, Biomet LBO, Toys “R” Us LBO, Education
Management Corporation (“EDMC”) LBO, Univision LBO, Clear Channel LBO, Sabre Holdings
LBO, TXU LBO, Alltel LBO and Texas Genco LBO.

15.  Plaintiff Kirk Dahl is a citizen of Minnesota. Plaintiff Dahl tendered shares to
Defendants and/or their co-conspirators in the Freescale LBO and Univision LBO.

16.  Plaintiff Rufus Orr is a citizen of Washington. Plaintiff Orr tendered his shares of
Freescale to Defendants and their co-conspirators in the Freescale LBO.

17.  Plaintiff Helmut Goeppinger is a citizen of Germany. Plaintiff Goeppinger tendered his
shares of Freescale to Defendants and their co-conspirators in the Freescale LBO.

18.  Plaintiff Robert Zimmerman is a citizen of Ohio. Plaintiff Zimmerman tendered
shares of Kinder Morgan to Defendants and their co-conspirators in the Kinder Morgan LBO.

19.  Plaintiff City of Omaha Police and Fire Retirement System (“Omaha”) is located in
Omaha, Nebraska and is a public pension fund organized under the laws of the State of Nebraska.
Omaha tendered shares to Defendants and/or their co-conspirators in the HCA LBO.

20.  As aresult of the conspiracy herein alleged, the price paid to Plaintiffs and other
public shareholders of the target companies for the LBOs identified in Plaintiffs’ class definitions
were suppressed below the price that would otherwise prevail in a competitive market, and as a
result of the alleged conspiracy, Plaintiffs and the public shareholders of the target companies were
injured in their business and property by reason of the antitrust violations alleged herein.

Defendants
21.  Defendant Apollo Global Management, LLC (“Apollo”) is a global asset manager
headquartered at 9 West 57th Street, 43rd Floor, New York, New York 10019. Apollo’s private

equity arm has over $30 billion of assets under management. Apollo is legally responsible for the
-7-
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unlawful conduct alleged herein because its directors, partners, officers, employees, and agents,
acting in the scope of their authority, reached an unlawful agreement with their competitors to
restrain competition. Alternatively, Apollo is legally responsible because it acted through,
facilitated, dominated, or controlled the actions of its affiliates in furtherance of the unlawful
conspiratorial activity alleged herein.

22.  Defendant Bain Capital Partners, LLC (“Bain”) is a private investment firm
headquartered at 111 Huntington Avenue, Boston, Massachusetts 02199. It has over $20 billion
under management and operates private equity funds. Bain is legally responsible for the unlawful
conduct alleged herein because its directors, partners, officers, employees, and agents, acting in the
scope of their authority, reached an unlawful agreement with their competitors to restrain
competition. Alternatively, Bain is legally responsible because it acted through, facilitated,
dominated, or confrolled the actions of its afﬁliétes in furtherance of the unlawful conspiratorial
activity alleged herein.

23.  Defendant The Blackstone Group L.P. (“Blackstone™) is a publicly traded investment
firm headquartered at 345 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10154 and incorporated in Delaware.
It has nearly $50 billion under management and operates private equity funds. Blackstone is legally
responsible for the unlawful conduct alleged herein because its directors, partners, officers,
employees, and agents, acting in the scope of their authority, reached an unlawful agreement with
their competitors to restrain competition. Alternatively, Blackstone is legally responsible because it
acted through, facilitated, dominated, or controlled the actions of its affiliates in furtherance of the
unlawful conspiratorial activity alleged herein.

24,  Defendant The Carlyle Group LLC is a Delaware limited liability company

headquartered at 1001 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Washington, District of Columbia 20004. It has

-8-
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nearly $40 billion under management and operates private equity funds, including defendants TC
Group III, L.P. and TC Group IV, L.P. Collectively, Defendants The Carlyle Group LLC, TC Group
IIL, L.P. and TC Group IV, L.P. are referred to as “Carlyle.” Each of the Carlyle defendants joined
the conspiratorial activity alleged herein and is legally responsible for the unlawful conduct because
its directors, partners, officers, employees, and agents, acting in the scope of their authority, reached
an unlawful agreement with their competitors to restrain competition. Alternatively, each of the
Carlyle defendants is legally responsible because it acted through, facilitated, dominated, or
controlled the actions of another one of the Carlyle defendants in furtherance of the unlawful
conspiratorial activity alleged herein.

25.  Defendant The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (“Goldman Sachs”) is a diversified
financial services firm engaged in investment banking, trading and principal investments, asset
management, securities services, and investment research. The investment banking divisions of
Goldman Sachs provide financial advice to companies and financial sponsors and underwrite the
debt for a large percentage of LBOs and other large leveraged acquisitions. Goldman Sachs’
investment management division includes Goldman Sachs Private Equity Group (referred to herein
as “Goldman Sachs PIA”), which is the private equity arm of Goldman Sachs. Goldman Sachs PIA
has approximately $39 billion under managemeﬁt. Goldman Sachs is headquartered at 85 Broad
Street, New York, New York 10004, Goldman Sachs is legally responsible for the unlawful conduct
alleged herein because its directors, partners, officers, employees, and agents, acting in the scope of
their authority, reached an unlawful agreement with their competitors to restrain competition.
Alternatively, Goldman Sachs is legally responsible because it acted through, facilitated, dominated,

or controlled the actions of'its affiliates, including without limitation Goldman Sachs PIA, Goldman,
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Sachs & Co., and Goldman Sachs Capital Partners, L.P., in furtherance of the unlawful
conspiratorial activity alleged herein.

26.  Defendant J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. (“J.P. Morgan”) is a financial holding company
incorporated under Delaware law in 1968 and is a leading global financial services firm and one of
the largest banking institutions in the United States. J.P. Morgan’s investment bank and financial
operations provide financial advice and underwrite the debt for a large percentage of LBOs. J.P.
Morgan is legally responsible for the unlawful conduct alleged herein because its directors, partners,
officers, employees, and agents, acting in the scope of their authority, reached and participated in an
unlawful agreement with their competitors to restrain competition. Alternatively, J.P. Morgan is
legally responsible because it acted through, facilitated, dominated, or controlled the actions of its
affiliates, including without limitation J.P. Morgan Partners in furtherance of the unlawful
conspiratorial activity alleged herein.?

27.  Defendant Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. (“KKR”) is a private equity firm
incorporated in Delaware and headquartered at 9 West 57th Street, New York, New York 10019.
KKR has over $30 billion under management and operates private equity funds. KKR is legally
responsible for the unlawful conduct alleged herein because its directors, partners, officers,
employees, and agents, acting in the scope of their authority, reached an unlawful agreement with
their competitors to restrain competition. Alternatively, KKR is legally responsible because it acted
through, facilitated, dominated, or controlled the actions of its affiliates in furtherance of the

unlawful conspiratorial activity alleged herein.

20 On August 1, 2006, the senior professionals of J.P. Morgan Partners spun off to form CCMP
Capital Advisors, LLC (“CCMP Capital”). CCMP Capital continues to manage J.P. Morgan
Partners’ investments by agreement with J.P. Morgan, and continued to participate in the unlawful
agreement to restrain competition, as alleged herein.

-10 -
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28.  Defendant Providence Equity Partners, Inc. (“Providence”) is a private investment
firm incorporated in Delaware and headquartered at 50 Kennedy Plaza, 18th Floor, Providence,
Rhode Island 02903. Providence operates private equity funds with nearly $21 billion in equity
commitments. Providence is legally responsible for the unlawful conduct alleged herein because its
directors, partners, officers, employees, and agents, acting in the scope of their authority, reached an
unlawful agreement with their competitors to restrain competition. Alternatively, Providence is
legally responsible because it acted through, facilitated, dominated, or controlled the actions of its
affiliates in furtherance of the unlawful conspiratorial activity alleged herein.

29.  Defendant Silver Lake Technology Management, L.L.C. (“Silver Lake”) is a private
equity firm headquartered at 2775 Sand Hill Road, Suite 100, Menlo Park, California 94025. It has
$5.9 billion under management and operates private equity funds. Silver Lake is legally responsible
for the unlawful conduct alleged herein because its directors, partners, officers, employees, and
agents, acting in the scope of their authority, reached an unlawful agreement with their competitors
to restrain competition. Alternatively, Silver Lake is legally responsible because it acted through,
facilitated, dominated, or controlled the actions of its affiliates in furtherance of the unlawful
conspiratorial activity alleged herein.

30.  Defendant TPG Capital, L.P. (“Texas Pacific Group” or “TPG”) is a private equity
firm headquartered at 301 Commerce Street, Suite 3300, Fort Worth, Texas 76102. It has over
$30 billion under management and operates private equity funds. TPG is legally responsible for the
unlawful conduct alleged herein because its directors, partners, officers, employees, and agents,
acting in the scope of their authority, reached an unlawful agreement with their competitors to

restrain competition. Alternatively, TPG is legally responsible because it acted through, facilitated,

-11 -
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dominated, or controlled the actions of its affiliates in furtherance of the unlawful conspiratorial
activity alleged herein.

31.  Defendant Thomas H. Lee Partners, L.P. (“T.H. Lee”) is a private equity firm,
organized in Delaware, with its headquarters at 100 Federal Street, 35th Floor, Boston,
Massachusetts 02110. It has approximately $20 billion under management and operates private
equity funds. T.H. Lee is legally responsible for the unlawful conduct alleged herein because its
directors, partners, officers, employees, and agents, acting in the scope of their authority, reached an
unlawful agreement with their competitors to restrain competition. Alternatively, T.H. Lee is legally
responsible because it acted through, facilitated, dominated, or controlled the actions of its affiliates
in furtherance of the unlawful conspiratorial activity alleged herein.

32. The ciefendants listed in 9921-31 above are collectively referred to, where
appropriate, as ‘“Defendants.”

Co-Conspirators

33.  Various other persons, firms, and corporations, including other private equity firms,
investment banks, officers, and directors of private equity firms and management of target
companies not named as defendants in this Complaint participated as co-conspirators with
Defendants in the violations alleged herein, and aided, abetted, and performed acts and made
statements in furtherance ofthe conspiracy. These Co-conspirators include, but are not limited to the
following:

34.  Co-conspirator American International Group, Inc. (“AIG”), an insurance corporation
with a financial services arm, headquartered at 180 Maiden Lane, New York, New York 10038.

3s. Co-conspirator Banc of America Securities LLC, an investment banking firm,

headquartered at 9 West 57th Street, New York, New York 10019.
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36.  Co-conspirator Barclays Capital, Inc., an investment banking firm, headquartered at
200 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10166.

37.  Co-conspirator Citigroup Global Markets Inc., an investment banking and securities
brokerage business, headquartered at 388 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10013.

38.  Co-conspirator Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, Inc. (“CDR”), a private equity firm,
headquartered at 375 Park Avenue, 18th Floor, New York, New York 10152. CDR operates private
equity funds worth more than $4 billion.

39.  Co-conspirator Credit Suisse Securities, a U.S. registered broker-dealer,
headquartered at 11 Madison Avenue, 7th Floor, New York, New York 10010.

40.  Co-conspirator J.P. Morgan Partners LLC (“JPMP”), the private equity division of
J.P. Morgan Chase & Co., headquartered at 1221 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York
10020. JPMP has invested over $15 billion worldwide since 1984.

41.  Co-conspirator Madison Dearborn Partners (“MDP”), a private equity firm,
headquartered at Three First National Plaza, Suite 4600, Chicago, Illinois 60602.

42.  Co-conspirator Merrill Lynch Global Private Equity, a private equity firm
headquartered at 4 World Financial Center, 250 Vesey Street, New York, New York 10080.

43.  Co-conspirator Morgan Stanley, a global financial services corporation,
headquartered at 1585 Broadway, New York, New York 10036.

44.  Co-conspirator Permira, a global private equity firm, headquartered in London,
United Kingdom. Permira’s U.S. offices are located at 320 Park Avenue, 33rd Floor, New York,
New York 10022. Since 1985 Permira has made almost 200 private equity investments and returned

close to €14 billion to their investors over the past 10 years.
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45.  Co-conspirator Warburg Pincus LLC (“Warburg”), a private equity firm,
headquartered at 466 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York 10017. Warburg has invested more
than $35 billion dollars in approximately 600 companies in more than 30 countries.

46.  Co-conspirator Hellman & Friedman, LLC, a private equity firm, headquartered at
One Maritime Plaza, 12th Floor, San Francisco, California 94111. Hellman & Friedman has
invested more than $25 billion in over 70 companies.

47.  Atalltimes herein mentioned, each and every Defendant and co-conspirator was an
agent of each and every other Defendant and co-conspirator. Each of the Defendants aided and
abetted the commission of unlawful, unfair, and deceptive business practices of their co-conspirators
and was aware, or should have been aware, that the agreements to allocate and rig bids substantially
assisted and/or encouraged their co-conspirators in the commission of the unlawful, unfair, and
anticompetitive acts alleged herein.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

48.  Thisaction is instituted under §§4 and 16 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §§15 and 26,
to recover damages and costs of suit, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, against Defendants for the
injuries sustained by Plaintiffs and the members of the Classes by reason of the violations, as herein
alleged, of §1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §1.

49,  This action is also instituted to secure injunctive relief against Defendants to prevent
them from further violations of §1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §1, as alleged herein.

50.  Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by 28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 1337 and by §§4
and 16 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §§15(a) and 26.

51.  Venue is found in this District pursuant to §§4, 12 and 16 of the Clayton Act, 15
U.S.C. §§15, 22 and 26, and 28 U.S.C. §1391(b)-(d). Venue is proper in this judicial District

because during the Conspiratorial Era one or more of the Defendants resided, transacted business,
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was found, or had agents in this District, and because a substantial part of the events giving rise to
Plaintiffs’ claims occurred, and a substantial portion of the affected interstate trade and commerce
described herein was carried out, in this District.

52.  Defendants maintain offices, have agents, transact business, or are found within this
judicial District.

53.  This Court has personal jurisdiction over each Defendant because each was engaged
in an illegal scheme directed at and with the intended effect of causing injury to persons and entities
residing in, located in, or doing business throughout the United States.

TRADE AND COMMERCE

54.  Theactivities of Defendants and their co-conspirators, as described in this Complaint,
were within the flow of, and substantially affected, interstate commerce. During the time period
covered by this Complaint, Defendants and their co-conspirators used the instrumentalities of
interstate commerce to purchase securities of the target companies enumerated herein throughout the
United States.

MODE OF ANALYSIS OF THE CLASS’ ANTITRUST CLAIMS

55.  Analysis of antitrust claims is informed by modern economic analysis. The branch of
economics which studies issues of competition among firms is called “Industrial Organization
Economics.” See Carlton, Dennis, and Jeffrey Perloff, Modern Industrial Organization, 4th ed.,
Boston: Pearson/Addison-Wesley, 2005. The application of these modern principles of Industrial
Organization Economics is described, infer alia, in the recently revised Horizontal Merger

Guidelines adopted by the DOJ and FTC on August 19, 2010.2' Although the Horizontal Merger

2 U.S. Department of Justice and Federal Trade Commission, HORIZONTAL MERGER

GUIDELINES (revised August 19, 2010) (hereinafter “Horizontal Merger Guidelines™).
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Guidelines are designed for the purpose of evaluating the competitive effects of horizontal mergers,
both the DOJ and FTC, as well as economists and lawyers in private cases, use the mode of analysis
set forth in the Horizontal Merger Guidelines to help evaluate the competition effects of any type of
potentially anticompetitive conduct. Thus, the Horizontal Merger Guidelines are instructive and
useful in analyzing Defendants’ collusive conduct in this case.

56.  The DOJ and FTC have also adopted guidelines describing how they analyze joint
ventures or other collaborations among competing firms.?* The Collaborations Guidelines are also
instructive and useful in analyzing Defendants’ conduct, in particular, since Defendants have
claimed, in part, that their “club bidding” is pro-competitive. As the allegations of this Complaint
make clear, that is not true.

57.  Both the Horizontal Merger Guidelines the Collaborations Guidelines make it clear
that the ultimate goal of antitrust analysis is to determine whether any particular conduct has caused
actual anticompetitive effects. Where there are clear and demonstrable actual anticompetitive effects
resulting from conduct, without any countervailing benefits to competition, then both agencies move
directly to the remedy phase of their analysis. Here, as described in this Complaint there are clear,
unambiguous and demonstrable anticompetitive effects.

58. Where the competitive effects of conduct are ambiguous, under both the Horizontal
Merger Guidelines and Collaboration Guidelines, one tool the agencies use to help them decide if
anticompetitive effects are likely to result from the conduct is to determine if the parties to that

conduct have market power, i.e., the power to cause anticompetitive effects. The first step in using

2 See U.S. Department of Justice and Federal Trade Commission, ANTITRUST GUIDELINES FOR

COLLABORATIONS AMONG COMPETITORS (April 2000) (hereinafter “Collaborations Guidelines™).

-16 -



Case 1:07-cv-12388-EFH Document 745 Filed 10/10/12 Page 21 of 221

the market power analysis tool is to define a relevant market in which the conduct has occurred. As
described below, there is a relevant market in which the Defendants have market power.

59. A product market for purposes of the market power analysis consists of the market for
buying the targeted firms identified in this Complaint through LBOs. Plaintiffs claim that
Defendants agreed to a market allocation and bid-rigging conspiracy. Thus, the relevant type of
market power is the ability of a firm or firms to maintain prices below a competitive level profitably
for a significant period of time. In this regard, the Horizontal Merger Guidelines state:

To evaluate whether a merger is likely to enhance market power on the
buying side ofthe market, the Agencies employ essentially the [hypothetical
monopolist] framework described above for evaluating whether a merger is
likely to enhance market power on the selling side of the market. In defining
relevant markets, the Agencies focus on the alternatives available to sellers in
the face of a decrease in the price paid by a hypothetical monopsonist.”

60.  These market definition principles have been summarized by Dr. Gregory Werden, a
prominent economist who has worked at DOJ for over 20 years:

Market delineation in antitrust is a means to an end rather than an end in
itself. Markets are tools used to aid in the assessment of market power-related
issues. The best tool for any task is one designed to perform it, A market
delineated for one purpose may be not any more suitable for another than a
dental drill is for coal mining or a mining drill for dentistry. Assuring that
markets are suitable for the purposes to which they are put requires that a
preliminary step be taken before market delineation. This step is the
identification of who might exercise market power, against whom it might be
exercised, and how it might be exercised.**

61.  Inthe current context, Dr. Werden’s preliminary step is taken by asking “who might

exercise market power’—defendant private equity firms; “against whom it might be exercised”—
p p q g

2 Horizontal Merger Guidelines at §12.

1 Werden, G. (1992), “Four Suggestions on Market Delineation,” Antitrust Bulletin, vol.
37, pp. 107-121.
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sellers of the targeted firms; and “how it might be exercised”—through an agreement to create and
maintain a market allocation and bid-rigging conspiracy.

62. In the present case, defendant private equity buyers of the targeted firms price
discriminated in their bid-rigged offers. As discussed by the DOJ and FTC:

When examining possible adverse competitive effects from a merger, the

Agencies consider whether those effects vary significantly for different

customers [selling] the same or similar products. Such differential impacts

are possible when [buyers] can discriminate, e.g., by profitably [lowering]

price to certain targeted [sellers] but not to others.

When price discrimination is feasible, adverse competitive effects on targeted

[sellers] can arise, even if such effects will not arise for other [sellers]. A

price [decrease] for targeted [sellers] may be profitable even if a price

[decrease] for all [sellers] would not be profitable because too many other

[sellers] would substitute away. When discrimination is reasonably likely, the

Agencies may evaluate competitive effects separately by type of [seller].

For price discrimination to be feasible, two conditions typically must be met:
differential pricing and limited arbitrage.?’

63.  In the present case, defendant private equity firms made differential offers to the
targeted sellers. That is, Defendants did not make the same below-competitive market offers to all
firms selling themselves through LBOs. Moreover, sellers cannot arbitrage buyers’ offers in LBOs.
For example, consider a firm selling itself through an LBO that receives multiple bids from
competing buyers, resulting in a competitive acquisition share price. This seller cannot arbitrage its
competitive acquisition share price by somehow requiring buyers to make a competitive offer to the
targeted firms identified in this Complaint. Therefore, the relevant product market consists of the
market for buying the targeted firms identified in this Complaint through LBOs.

64.  The billions of dollars of both debt and equity that must be raised to participate in

these LBOs creates tremendous barriers to entry into the relevant market. The number of private

23 Horizontal Merger Guidlines at §3.
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equity firms that had the ability and financial means necessary to control the LBOs in the relevant
market was limited to a small group of repeat players who invest collectively.

65.  Therelevant geographic market for the purposes of this action is the United States. A
relevant antitrust geographic market has been defined as “the market area in which the seller
operates, and to which the purchaser can practicably turn for supplies.”?® Or in the present case, the
market area in which the buyer operates, and to which the seller can practicably turn for LBO
buyers. A relevant geographic market has been said to “correspond to the commercial realities of the
industry and be economically significant.”*’ In the present case, the geographic area in which the
targeted sellers could practicably turn for LBO buyers is the United States.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

66.  Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and as a class action under the
provisions of Rule 23(a), (b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf
of all members‘ of the following two classes:

Overarching Conspiracy Class

All persons who sold their common stock of (1) AMC Entertainment Inc., (2) Toys
“R” Us, Inc., (3) SunGard Data Systems Inc., (4) The Neiman Marcus Group, Inc.,
(5) Education Management Corporation, (6) Univision Communications Inc., (7)
Michaels Stores, Inc., (8§) HCA Inc., (9) Aramark Corporation, (10) Kinder Morgan,
Inc., (11) Freescale Semiconductor, Inc., (12) Harrah’s Entertainment, Inc., (13)
Clear Channel Communications, Inc., (14) Sabre Holdings Corporation, (15) Biomet,
Inc., (16) TXU Corp., or (17) Alltel Corporation, directly to a Defendant or an entity
controlled by a Defendant as part of the LBO for each of the preceding target
companies. Excluded from this Class are the federal government, the Court and any
members of the Court’s immediate family, the Defendants, including their
predecessors, successors, and affiliates as well as their current and former directors,
managers, partners, officers, and employees, and the directors and officers of each
target company at the time of the LBO.

2 Tampa Elec. Co. v. Nashville Coal Co., 365 U.S. 320, 327 (1961).
27 Brown Shoe Co. v. United States, 370 U.S. 294, 336-37 (1962).
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HCA Class

All persons who sold their common stock of HCA Inc. directly to a Defendant or an
entity controlled by a Defendant as part of the HCA LBO which occurred on or about
November 11, 2006. Excluded from the HCA Class are the federal government, the
Court and any members of the Court’s immediate family, the Defendants, including
their predecessors, successors, and affiliates as well as their current and former

directors, managers, partners, officers, and employees, and the directors and officers
of HCA Inc. at the time of the LBO.

67.  The prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the Classes would
create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications, establishing incompatible standards of conduct
for Defendants and their co-conspirators.

68. Defendants and their co-conspirators have acted, and refused to act, on grounds
generally applicable to the Classes, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief.

69.  Plaintiffs believe that while there are thousands of members of the Classes as
described above, their exact number and identities are ascertainable from trading records.

70.  The Classes are so numerous and geographically dispersed that joinder of all
members is impracticable.

71. There are questions of law and fact common to both of the Classes, which relate to
the existence of the conspiracies alleged, and the type and common pattern of injury sustained as a
result thereof, including, but not limited to:

(a) whether Defendants and their co-conspirators engaged in combinations and
conspiracies among themselves to allocate the markets for and/or to rig the

bidding for the securities of target companies, as alleged herein, purchased by
Defendants and their co-conspirators;

(b) the identity of the participants in the conspiracies;

(©) the duration of the conspiracies alleged in this Complaint and the nature and
character of the acts performed by Defendants and their co-conspirators in
furtherance of the conspiracies;

(d) whether the alleged conspiracies violated §1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C.
§1;
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(e) whether the conduct of Defendants and their co-conspirators, as alleged in
this Complaint, caused injury to Plaintiffs and other members of the Classes;

® the effect of Defendants’ conspiracies on the prices of securities sold to
Defendants and their co-conspirators during the Conspiratorial Era;

(g)  the appropriate measure of damages sustained by Plaintiffs and other
members of the Classes;

(h) the appropriate injunctive relief;
(1) whether releases obtained in state court breach of fiduciary duty class action

settlements release any Defendant from the Classes’ claims for injunctive
relief; and

)] whether releases obtained in state court breach of fiduciary duty class action
- settlements release any Defendant from the Classes’ claims for damages.

72.  Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the other Class members, and Plaintiffs
will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Classes. Plaintiffs tendered
their securities in the target companies that underwent an LBO, and their interests are coincident
with and not antagonistic to those of the other members of the Classes. In addition, Plaintiffs are
represented by counsel who are competent and experienced in the prosecution of antitrust and class
action litigation.

73.  The questions of law and fact common to the members of the Classes predominate
over any questions affecting only individual members, including legal and factual issues relating to
liability and damages.

74. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy. The Classes are readily definable and are ones for which records
should exist in the files of Defendants and their co-conspirators. Prosecution as a class action will
eliminate the possibility of repetitious litigation. Treatment as a class action will permit a large
number of similarly situated persons to adjudicate their common claims in a single forum
simultaneously, efficiently, and without duplication of effort and expense that numerous individual
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actions would engender. Treatment of this case as a class action will also permit the adjudication of
relatively small claims by many Class members who otherwise could not afford to litigate an
antitrust claim such as is asserted in this Complaint. This class action presents no difficulties of
management that would preclude its maintenance as a class action.

DEFENDANTS’ OVERARCHING CONSPIRACY

75.  An LBO is a type of transaction in which a purchaser, often a private equity firm,
acquires substantially all ofa company’s outstanding shares using some of its own capital along with
a substantial amount of debt financing. The purchaser then typically takes the company private (by
withdrawing its shares from the public exchange), operates it for a period of time, and sells it or
conducts a public offering for its shares. The debt used in an LBO is secured by the target
company’s assets and paid off with its cash flow.

76.  Through a well-orchestrated market allocation and bid-rigging conspiracy,
Defendants suppressed competition in 19 of the largest LBOs — and 8§ related transactions — that
closed between 2003 and 2007. Defendants fostered their conspiracy by regularly and explicitly
affirming that “working together,” instead of competing, best served their interests. In each of'the 19
LBOs, Defendants formed joint purchasing clubs (or consortia), refused to top one another’s bids,
and divided deals among themselves through a series of quid pro quo arrangements. At its essence,
this anticompetitive conduct amounted to following the conspiracy’s mutually understood Rules that
Defendants referred to as “/c]lub etiquette,” “quid-pro-quo,” “payback,” “I0U,” and “professional

8
courl‘esy.”2

28 GSPE00367587-88 at 87; BX-0033380; TCG0450308-09 at 08; KKR DAHL 000538008-10
at 09; Hutchins Depo. at 119:16-120:5.
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Defendants Agree Not to Let History Repeat Itself

77.  Historically, private equity firms fiercely competed. For example, KKR’s acquisition
of RJR Nabisco in 1989 epitomized an era of robust competition. After Shearson Lehman Hutton,
Inc. announced that it would acquire RJR Nabisco for $75 per share, a bidding war broke out
between KKR, Shearson Lehman Hutton and Forstmann Little & Co. Ultimately, KKR acquired the
company for $109 per share — a 40% increase from the initial bid. At $31.1 billion, RJR Nabisco
remained the largest LBO on record for the next 17 years.

78. - After RJR Nabisco, large LBOs occurred infrequently. By 2003, however, a
combination of cheap, plentiful debt, low interest rates, easy access to capital, and favorable
valuations of public companies made LBOs more appealing. A second LBO boom occurred from
2003 to 2007, providing Defendants with a sufficient number of targets to allocate profitably among
themselves to keep competition from breaking out as it had in earlier eras.

79.  But this time, Defendants agreed not to compete for target companies. Defendants
feared creating RJR Nabisco-like bidding wars for large LBOs where no Defendant benefitted. An
internal Blackstone email states: “[t]he reason we didn’t go forward [on HCA] was basically a
decision on not jumping someone elses [sic] deal and creating rjr [Nabisco] 272 Blackstone
President Tony James aptly described Defendants’ new ethos, and affirmed their conspiracy, in an
email he sent to George Roberts, the co-founder of KKR,”/w]e would much rather work with you
guys than against you. Together we can be unstoppable but in opposition we can cost each other a

lot of money.”*® Roberts affirmed the conspiracy with one word, “/ajgreed.”"

2 BX-0658842.
30 BX-0430719.
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80.  Inorder to avoid costly bidding wars, Defendants agreed not to compete for another
Defendant’s exclusive deal. In exchange, Defendants were assured that they may potentially be
brought into the deal as a reward. This suppressed the price paid to shareholders for each LBO and
benefitted Defendants by artificially decreasing their acquisition costs. Also driving Defendants’
agreement not to compete was the fact that they shared numerous limited partners (LPs), that is,
investors in their buyout funds. Competition drove up the price for the target company and thus
threatened the Defendants’ returns to their common LPs. As a result, Defendants did not wish to be
seen as “jumping deals” and driving up prices. This is illustrated by Silver Lake co-founder Jim
Davidson’s explanations to a Silver Lake LP who was offered a co-investment opportunity in
Freescale by the Blackstone consortium that Silver Lake did not jump the Freescale deal and thus
unnecessarily drive up the price.> Davidson was adamant that Silver Lake not be seen as jumping
someone’s deal because that would have violated the agreement not to compete and counseled others
in Silver Lake to stick to his script when communicating with LPs.

81.  Defendants described their collusive agreement as pursuing a “long-run” approach.
For example, after passing up a “good deal” on a target company to allow KKR and Bain to acquire
it at an artificially reduced price, Jonathan Coslet, TPG’s Chief Investment Officer, reminded one of
his colleagues, “/a/ll we can do is do [u]nto others as we want them to do unto us . . . it will pay off
in the long run even though it feels bad in the short run.”* On another occasion, TPG and

Blackstone chose to join an existing club with other Defendants rather than submit an independent

31 I d.
32 See STLM-DAHL-E-0202960 and SLTM-E-0177339.
33 TPG-E-0000096555.
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bid because, in the words of TPG’s James Coulter, being “aggressive” would make “enemies,”
“while perhaps benefiting noone [sic] but the [company’s] shareholders.”* These TPG emails
demonstrate how Defendants agreed to forego short-run profits for greater pay-offs in the long run.
Such an agreement was possible because Defendants are a close-knit community of private equity
firms whose founders and top executives attended the same schools, started their careers at the same
firm(s), worked together at the highest levels of finance, regularly socialized with one another, and
even personally invested in each other’s funds. Moreover, the firms they commanded were the only
ones with the resources to close the large LBOs which are the subject of this action. In short, the
nature of the private equity and investment banking industries made it a fecund environment for
fixing the market.

82.  With aconspiracy firmly in place, Defendants, such as KKR bragged to its investors
in 2005: ““Gone are the days when buy-out firms fought each other with the ferocity of cornered cats
to win a deal.””*

The Rules of the Game: Conspiratorial Rules and Conduct for Large LBOs

83.  Defendants implemented their agreement to “work together” by adhering to several
rules of conduct. Defendants referred to these rules using multiple euphemisms, such as: “/c]lub
etiquette,” “quid-pro-quo,” “payback,” “IOU,” “at-bat[s],” and “professional courtesy.”*® Goldman

Sachs referred to these Rules when it remarked, “club etiquette prevails,” after Blackstone and KKR

34 TPG-E-0000002681-82.

33 KKR DAHL 000524307-16 at 10.

36 GSPE00367587-88; BX-0033380; TCG0450308-09 at 08; KKR DAHL 000538008-10at 09;
November 6, 2009 Deposition Transcript of Matthew Levin (“Levin Depo.”) at 200:21-201:2;

Hutchins Depo. at 119:16-120:5; April 12, 2012 Deposition of Allan Holt (“Holt Depo.”) at 197:14-
20.
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determined that, rather than compete over both HCA and Freescale, Blackstone would cede one
company and KKR would cede the other.

84.  Regardless of nomenclature, Defendants observed two broad rules when pursuing any
given target: (1) Defendants must work together and not compete; and (2) Defendants must be
compensated for their adherence to the Rules. Defendants followed these Rules throughout their
conspiracy, and in each of the 19 LBOs — and eight related transactions — that it spanned.

85.  Rule 1 —which required Defendants to work together instead of competing — caused
Defendants to engage in the following conspiratorial conduct:

(a) Form Clubs to Bid on Large LBOs: From the 1980s through 2003, club

bidding was relatively rare. In stark contrast, during the Conspiratorial Era, Defendants formed
clubs in every single large LBO. These clubs would number as many as seven Defendants even
when any one Defendant could have profitably purchased the target on its own. Defendants
admitted that forming clubs suppressed price competition. Blackstone stated that club deals promote
a “[lJess competitive deal environment.”’ KKR stated that club deals “/r]educe competition in

auctions.”™®

TPG’s founder David Bonderman admitted forming “[clonsortia often limits
bidding,”* and ensures that “[f]here s less competition for the biggest deals”* Forming clubs also

facilitated Defendants’ adherence to the other Rules described below.

7 BC-E 0112808-21 at 10; Burke Decl., Ex. P, KKR DAHL 000538771-72; see also BX-
1031261 (“teaming with a consortium to reduce competition”).

38 KKR DAHL 000524307-16 at 12.

¥ Burke Decl., Ex. A, TPG-E-0000345097-128 at 104; see also Burke Decl., Ex. B, TPG-E-
0000381393-429 at 401.

40 BC-E0580250-51 at 50.
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(b) Do Not Compete for Another Club’s Proprietary Deal: Defendants refused to

compete for proprietary deals during both the negotiation process and the go-shop period. Every time
a Defendant’s club signaled that it had a proprietary deal in place for a target company during the
course of the conspiracy, the other Defendants refused to submit a better offer — even when they
could have done so and still made a profit on the company. For example, in HCA, a KKR-led club
asked “the industry to step down” on its proprietary deal.*' Asa result, just 3 days into HCA’s 50
day “go-shop” period, before it was possible to conduct due diligence, Carlyle’s James Attwood
wrote KKR’s Alexander Navab, “/w]e are NOT forming a competing group (although we have
received many calls), we are not signing an NDA [non-disclosure agreement], we are not taking any
info and will not in any way interfere withyour deal.””** Blackstone, TPG and Goldman Sachs, who
were all interested in HCA, each affirmed that they would not compete.* This enabled KKR’s club
to purchase HCA at such a low price, it amounted to “highway roberry [sic].”* When KKR later
returned that favor in compliance with the Rules, TPG’s managing director, John Marren, reported to
one of his colleagues, “KKR has agreed not to jump our deal since no one in private equity ever
jumps an announced deal.” In Freescale, Defendants KKR, Bain and Silver Lake expressly wrote

to Freescale’s Board that it would not compete in a go-shop if Freescale signed an agreement with

4 TCG0216411.

2 TCG0236888.

s TPG-E-0000096555; BX-0658842; KKR DAHL 000051683-87.
“4 BX-0658842.

» TPG-E-0000034009.
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another group, which they knew to be lead by Blackstone.*® Consistent with this Rule, Defendants
did not jump a single proprietary deal during the conspiracy period.

(©) Manipulate Auctions: When faced with the prospect of an auction, as opposed

to a proprietary deal, Defendants worked together to manipulate the auction to suppress price
competition. Defendants formed clubs to limit the total number of bidders, often resulting in only
two potential bidding groups. Defendants also discussed their bidding strategy with each other and
used traditional bid-rigging ploys, such as submitting soft or sham bids. During the entire
conspiracy, no Defendant ever topped a “winning” bid for a target company that had been submitted
by a co-conspirator — even when a Defendant could have done so and still made a profit on the
company. In PanAmSat, for instance, a club made up of Carlyle, Providence and Blackstone plotted
with KKR to rig the company’s auction. During phone calls with the club, KKR’s Alexander Navab,
suggested that they “both bid separately and try to come together later.””*’ Subsequently, in an email
with the subject line “RE: bid strategy,” Carlyle’s Michael Connelly signaled “maybe we shouldn’t
bid today — let KKR bid $22 or so and then we take a look at their deal as participant, as agreed.
[O]r KKR bids $22-823, we bid $20 and then join up later if they can educate us.”*® The club
submitted what it described as a ““soft bid” of $20,% allowing KKR to “win” the auction. To

complete the scheme, KKR then let Carlyle and Providence into the deal as partners, giving them a

46 STLM-DAHL-E-0080771.

i TCG0236361.

8 TCG0288350.

¥ TCG0000063; TCG0065289-94 at 89.
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total of 56% of the company™ — although KKR attempted to keep the fact that Carlyle and
Providence had been “losing” bidders out of PanAmSat’s proxy filing.”!

86.  Similarly, Defendants’ application of Rule 2 — Defendants must be compensated for
their adherence to Rule 1 — led them to repeatedly engage in the following conduct:

(a) Let’s Trade — My Club Gets Deal A, and Your Club Gets Deal B: When

multiple target companies became available at the same time, Defendants would allocate the deals
among themselves, such that they each took a turn as the “winner.” This enabled Defendants to
maintain order while ensuring that they paid the lowest possible prices for companies. The HCA and
Freescale transactions illustrate this conduct where communications between the highest ranking
members of Blackstone and KKR resulted in an agreement that Blackstone’s club would “win”
Freescale and KKR’s club would “win” HCA.* Describing this agreement, KKR’s co-founder
Henry Kravis wrote, “/tJhey [Blackstone] are very happy campers that we are not going any further,

9353

since they now have a signed agreement [for Freescale].””” Defendants made similar allocations in

AMC and Loews, Kinder Morgan, Univision, EDMC, and Philips/NXP.

(b) Rewards for Not Competing — Participation in a Current LBO: Defendants
rewarded each other for not competing for large LBOs. Defendants agreed not to compete, that is,
make an independent bid, in exchange for being offered an invitation to participate in that LBO with
its co-conspirators. These quid pro quos restrained competition by eliminating competitive bids,

thereby suppressing price. It also furthered the conspiracy, because it ensured that Defendants

%0 KKR DAHL 002359-69; KKR DAHL 000413963-74.

3t KKR DAHL 000430909-10; TCG0216512; BX-1165731-33.
> KKR DAHL 000430909-10; TCG0216512; BX-1165731-33.
>3 KKR DAHL 000430909-10.

-29.



Case 1:07-cv-12388-EFH Document 745 Filed 10/10/12 Page 34 of 221

would have an opportunity to participate in enough deals to make the conspiracy economically
advantageous. Numerous examples of these quid pro quos occurred during the conspiracy. In
SunGard, the Silver Lake-lead club rewarded Blackstone and TPG for not forming a competing
club.> The Silver Lake group used J.P. Morgan’s “trillion dollar man” Jimmy Lee “to soothe them
Jor not getting invited but not to bid against [Silver Lake] as [Silver Lake] will let them in.” In
Michaels Stores, Bain and Blackstone rewarded Carlyle and T.H. Lee for not forming a competing
club, because the prospect of Carlyle forming its own club “would probably mean a bad process,”’
ie., a competitive process. Blackstone summed it up best: “you scratch our back, we scratch
yours.”® Silver Lake expected similar treatment for not bidding against Bain and TPG in a
telecommunications deal involving Huawei and 3Com. Jim Davidson of Silver Lake noted he did

not want to bid against TPG and Bain and that Silver Lake would expect to get a call if they won but

was unwilling to go forward and bid against them.”’

(c) I Let You in on My Current Deal, You Let Me in on Your Future Deal:
Defendants who were invited into a current deal understood that they were required to invite their
co-conspirators into a subsequent deal. By doing so, Defendants understood that their co-
conspirators would not compete against them. For example, in Kinder Morgan, Goldman Sachs
brought Carlyle in with the understanding that Carlyle would return the favor in the future.
Recognizing that obligation, Carlyle sought to find a place for Goldman Sachs in the subsequent

Community Health Systems (“CHS”) deal. Allan Holt, Carlyle’s co-head of U.S. Buyouts, asked his

>4 SLTM-DAHL-E-0177300.
o
56 Id
37 SLTM-DAHL-E-0363274.
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colleagues who had proposed partnering with Permira on CHS, “/a]re we committed to Permira as I
had hoped we could invite in [Goldman Sachs] PIA as payback on Kinder for future

*% Revealing how intertwined Defendants’ conspiracy had become, Carlyle’s

consideration.”
managing director Sandra Horbach responded that “/a]s far at [sic] Goldman [Sachs PIA] is
concerned, 1 didn’t think we owed them payback on [Kinder] because Ithought that was payback for
EDMC [Education Management].”® This policy was enshrined in a Goldman Sachs document
titled “PIA Financial Sponsor Strategy” dated in June, 2003. A slide subtitled “The Strategy” stated
that Goldman Sachs should “Develop ‘chits’ that will encourage reciprocity with Financial Sponsors,
PIA and IBD” and noted that “Co-investment opportunities in PIA deals will enhance FSG’s
relationships with Sponsors and encourage reciprocity towards PIA."® KKR repaid Silver Lake for
SunGard by inviting them into the Auna deal and Silver Lake specifically negotiated this as payback.
Other examples of this conduct took place throughout the conspiracy including in PanAmSat, AMC,
SunGard, Neiman Marcus, Michaels, Aramark, Freescale, HCA, Vivendi, CHS, Nalco, Cablecom
and Susquehanna.

(d) Prior to SunGard, KKR had never invested in an LBO with Silver Lake.®!

After SunGard, KKR teamed up with Silver Lake in NXP, Freescale and Avago.®

5# TCG0450308-09; see also Holt Depo. at 197:14-20 (testifying that he “considered it a
professional courtesy” for Carlyle to offer CHS to Goldman Sachs as payback for Kinder Morgan
and for future consideration).

¥ I

% GSPE00807828 at 840.

ol Roberts Depo. at 96:2-4.

62 Id. at 96:5-12.
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(e) Rewards for Not Competing — Participation in Future Deals: Defendants also

rewarded each other for not competing for current large LBOs by offering co-conspirators who
agreed not to compete, the opportunity to participate in future LBOs. Defendants did this when the
circumstances were unfavorable to an invitation into the current deal. These quid pro quos
restrained competition by eliminating competitive bids, thereby suppressing price. It also furthered
the conspiracy because it ensured that Defendants would have an opportunity to participate in
enough deals to profit from the conspiracy.

® The Rules thus established the repeated pattern of conduct that Defendants
engaged in throughout their overarching conspiracy, and in each of the 19 LBOs and eight related
transactions that they spawned. The Rules succeeded in part because they provided Defendants with
simple methods of suppressing competition that could be applied regardless of how a deal unfolded,
and despite the fact that Defendants could not always foresee which large target companies would
become available or who would show an interest in a particular target when it did. The Rules also
provided Defendants an easy-to-follow system of interlocking obligations and quid pro quos which
consistently produced allocations that left all Defendants satisfied.

Defendants Monitored Compliance with the Rules

87.  Defendants accordingly monitored the quid pro quos that arose from the conspiracy
to ensure that deals were adequately allocated, and the conspiracy thrived. Defendants monitored
compliance through detailed scorecards and communications amongst themselves, which prevented
competition from breaking out. Defendants, like Goldman Sachs, Bain, KKR and Silver Lake

maintained detailed “scorecards” that listed the deals they worked on, who else was involved in
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those deals, and the resulting favors that they owed others and that others owed them.%* Monitoring
quid pro quos occurred in communications at highest levels of the companies. TPG founder David
Bonderman met with Goldman Sachs CEO Lloyd Blankfein concerning reciprocal deal flow for
TPG’s inviting Goldman Sachs PIA into TXU, Biomet, and Alltel.** Regarding paybacks, Glenn
Hutchins, Silver Lake’s co-founder, wrote Blackstone’s Tony James, “/y]ou are one of the very few
Sirms in the Sun[G]ard consortium who hasn’t found an opportunity to invite us into something that
we weren 't otherwise engaged with.”®> Hutchins continued, “we invited you into SunGard and have
a reasonable expectation of your reciprocating. 266

88.  One Defendant, TPG, collected a list of deals that it worked on together with KKR in
preparation for a luncheon that occurred in which its industry team leaders collaborated with KKR’s
industry team leaders (including KKR’s co-heads of North American private equity Alexander
Navab and Michael Michelson) in order to discuss opportunities to team up and to simply “say

thanks for where [KKR] invited [TPG] in>®" In another instance, when Apollo co-founder Leon

Black expressed his anger at Goldman Sachs’ “lack of reciprocity” for two deals he had invited

63 January 27, 2010 Deposition Transcript of Richard A. Friedman (“Friedman Depo.”), Exhibit
657; Friedman Depo. at 135:2-8; October 29, 2009 Deposition Transcript of Kenneth A. Pontarelli
(“Pontarelli Depo.”) Exhibit 214; Pontarelli Depo. at 148:17-24.

% GSPE01346837-42

63 BX-1199536-38; Hutchins Depo. at 323:9-23.

% BX-1199536-38.

67 Burke Decl., Ex. Q, TPG-E-0000345839-41 (referencing Sungard, Philips/NXP and
Community Health Systems, among others).
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Goldman Sachs to join, Goldman Sachs’ executives reviewed their scorecard and readily agreed that
they “truly needfed] to involve [Apollo] soon in a principal deal.”®

THE ROLE OF THE INVESTMENT BANKS

89. Investrhent banks play a critical role in the identification of LBO opportunities and
the negotiation, financing, and exit strategies of LBOs. As such, investment banks have
organizational and financial incentives to align themselves with the largest private equity firms.

90.  Atthe beginning ofthe LBO process, a target company typically hires an investment
bank to advise it “to seek strategic alternatives,” a euphemism for selling the company. The
investment banker received a lucrative fee for advising the company during this process.

91.  Once the company decided to sell itself, its investment bank would be responsible for
soliciting potential buyers. Potential buyers comprised two general categories: (i) long-term
strategic buyers, such as companies in the same industry; and (ii) short-term financial buyers such as
Defendants.

92.  During the conspiracy, investment banks shifted their focus from soliciting strategic
buyers to soliciting private equity firms, particularly Defendants. Investment banks steered target
companies to the Defendants, rather than strategic buyers, because the LBOs orchestrated by
Defendants generated significantly larger fees for the investment banks than the acquisitions by
~ strategic buyers. Unlike strategic buyers who would often fund the acquisition through cash and/or
their stock, Defendants relied upon debt to fund their purchase. This provided investment banks

with the opportunity to earn large fees through debt underwriting.

68 GSPE00380294-95.

-34 -




Case 1:07-cv-12388-EFH Document 745 Filed 10/10/12 Page 39 of 221

93.  The investment banks also participated in the scheme to earn substantial fees post-
acquisition (“recycling fees”). These recycling fees provided the financial incentive for the
investment banks to offer lower interest rates to the private equity firms who most often participate
in LBOs as compared to other possible acquirers (such as strategic buyers). Economic data indicate
that the lower interest rates paid by private equity firms led to a four percentage point increase in
equity return to the private equity firms, while at the same time premiums paid to shareholders in
club LBOs decreased.

94.  After the acquisition was completed, the private equity firm buyers often placed a
secondary debt offering to fund a dividend recapitalization in order to recoup as much as 35% of
their original investment, often within 6 months of the acquisition. The investment banks also
received a fee for underwriting secondary bond placements. Corporate/strategic buyers were less
desirable partners for investment banks because they lacked any incentive to hire the banks to issue
secondary debt to fund large dividends.

95.  Similarly, private equity firms eventually would sell some ofthe company’s assets in
an initial public offering (“IPO”) or to a strategic buyer. These activities also required substantial
investment banking services and produced very high fees for investment banks, providing additional
motivation to participate in the conspiracy.

96.  In 2001, corporate/strategic buyers made up 17 of the 20 largest fee generators for
investment banks; whereas, by 2005, only 4 of the 20 largest fee generators were corporate/strategic
buyers, and 16 of the largest fee generators were private equity firms. The fees private equity firms
pay investment banks are enormous. In 2005 and 2006, the big investment banks received fees from

private equity firms exceeding $11 billion, including advisory fees and recycling fees from follow-
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on bond offerings and exit strategies. Moreover, Defendants, the largest private equity firms, paid
the majority of these fees to investment banks.

97.  The chart after 152, which illustrates the sources of fees in the PanAmSat Holding
Corporation (“PanAmSat”) deal, serves as an example of how investment banks generate fees from
private equity firms.

98.  Thus, the Defendant private equity firms exerted considerable control over the
investment capital markets by aligning with certain select investment banks and executing
exclusivity deals with these banks. Only a few investment banks had the capital, resources, and
connections to the private equity community necessary to participate in the largest LBOs, and these
few banks, and individual bankers such as Jimmy Lee at J.P. Morgan and Boon Sim at Credit Suisse,
are all repeat players with close personal and financial relationships with the Defendants.

99.  Additionally, investment banks had private equity arms that participated directly in
bidding clubs, even when they were already advising the target company. This created a situation
ripe for the sharing of competitive information and self-dealing. One hand washed the other, as the
investment bank lined up capital and debt financing for its fraternal private equity firm, which, in
combination with the consortium of private equity partners, in turn paid the bank substantial fees.
As a result, the various opportunities for profiting from the deal were kept in the family. For
example, in the Kinder Morgan deal, Defendant Goldman Sachs achieved what it favorably referred
to as the “triple play” — controlling the buyout by taking on multiple, if not conflicting roles

including: (1) serving as advisor to the acquisition group; (2) serving as the lead private equity
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1-69

sponsor; and (3) providing debt financing on the dea Other examples of the conjoined

relationship between investment banks and private equity firms include:

(@  HCA: Merrill Lynch —which HCA retained to discuss strategic alternatives
with management — brought in its private equity arm, Merrill Partners, once
HCA’s management decided to go private. The four financial advisors to the
group — Merrill Lynch, Bank of America, Citigroup, and J.P. Morgan — also
provided the debt financing.

(b) Neiman Marcus: Goldman Sachs acted as both investor and advisor to the
company.

(c) Aramark: Both Goldman Sachs and J.P. Morgan participated as private
equity firms, investment banks, and advisors.

(d AMC: J.P. Morgan acted as investor, advisor to purchasers, and provided
debt financing.

(e) PanAmSat: Credit Suisse acted as advisor to the company and provided
debt financing.

® Michaels Stores: J.P. Morgan acted as both the advisor to the company and
provided debt financing.

(g) Biomet: Goldman Sachs participated in the buyout as a member of the
buyout consortium and by providing debt financing.

(h) TXU: Credit Suisse acted as advisor to the company and provided debt
financing. Further, Goldman Sachs acted as a large equity investor, provided
debt financing, acted as an advisor and had a large role in TXU’s commodity
hedging business.”

100. However, the Defendant private equity firms did not tolerate direct competition from
the investment banks on buyout deals. For example, the fallout from the 2004 Warner Chilcott LBO

in which the private equity arms of investment banks Credit Suisse and J.P. Morgan prevailed in an

6 November 12, 2009 Deposition Transcript of Sanjeev Mehra (“Mehra Depo.”) at 176:15-
177:2.

70 May 16,2012 Deposition of Richard Friedman (“May 16, 2012 Friedman Depo.”) at 507:7-
15.
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LBO over KKR, Bain and TPG, is telling.”! KKR co-founder George Roberts confirmed that after
the Warner Chilcott buyout, Credit Suisse and J.P. Morgan were forced to spin off their private
equity arms because continuing to compete with KKR and the other Defendant private equity firms
would cause them to forfeit future banking fees.”

101.  The investment banks also invested in funds managed by Defendants. -
— As a result of interlocking investments, investment banks
often advised the target company to participate in an LBO with a private equity firm they controlled
or in which they had invested capital. This created an additional incentive for the investment banks
to render favorable fairness opinions even though the takeover price had been artificially suppressed.

102.  Because the investment banks played both sides of the table, information regarding
pending and future deals flowed freely between investment banks and private equity firms. For
example, J.P. Morgan’s National Advisory Board, chaired by Jimmy Lee, Co-Chair of the
Investment Bank, had a selective membership roster during the Conspiratorial Era that included
senior leadership from Defendants TPG, Blackstone, T.H. Lee, Silver Lake, Carlyle and Apollo.
These and other associations, such as the Private Equity Council and Private Equity Leadership
Group, provided conduits for communicating competitive information among Defendants and their
co-conspirators,

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE INVESTIGATION

103.  OnOctober 11, 2006, The Wall Street Journal reported that the Department of Justice

had launched an investigation into the bidding practices of private equity firms including, among

7 May 15, 2012 Deposition of George Roberts (“Roberts Depo.”) at 191:16-24.

72 Roberts Depo. at 194:11-14 (“I mean, why would you go give business to somebody that —

your direct competitor? You give business to somebody that is going to help you, not hurt you.”).
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others, the following Defendants and their co-conspirators: (i) KKR; (ii) Carlyle; (iii) CDR;
(iv) Merrill Partners; and (v) Silver Lake. Each received letters from the New York Regional Office
of the Department of Justice seeking broad information about their business practices and
involvement in LBOs going back to late 2003.

104,  Specifically, the Department of Justice is investigating instances of collusion in the
form of bid-rigging, focusing on whether bidding clubs — which include Defendants, the investment
banks, and often the target company’s senior management — communicated about prices and the
value of bids in order to reach secret agreements and keep target companies’ prices low.

105.  Oneunnamed source stated that the Department of Justice investigation concentrates
on ““what deals did we do, who did we work with [and] when did we find out about them.””
Private equity transactions involving management-led LBOs are a primary target of the inquiry
because management has an incentive to protect their own financial interests by collaborating closely
with a club of private equity firms to avoid an open bidding process.

106. The Department of Justice issued formal Civil Investigative Demands to at least
Defendants Silver Lake, KKR and Carlyle.74 In its August 13, 2007 Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1,
KKR confirmed that the Department of Justice had requested documents as part of its bid-rigging
investigation. Specifically, KKR disclosed “we have received a request for certain documents and

other information from the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice, or the DOJ,

in connection with the DOJ’s investigation of private equity firms to determine whether they have

3 Peter Smith, Buy-Out Firms Face Harsher Regulation, Fin. Times, Oct. 11, 2006, at 29.
7 See Silver Lake Technology Management LLC’s Objections and Responses to Plaintiffs’
First Set of Interrogatories; TC Group III, L.P. and TC Group IV, L.P.’s Supplemental Objections
and Responses to Plaintiffs’ First Set of Interrogatories; Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P.’s
Responses and Supplemental Objections to Plaintiffs’ First Set of Interrogatories.
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engaged in conduct prohibited by the United States antitrust laws.” KKR also received requests for
documents in March 2009. In the April 8,2008 Form S-1, Apollo stated that “it has been reported in
the press that a few of our competitors in the private equity industry have received information
requests relating to private equity transactions from the Antitrust Division ofthe U.S. Department of
Justice.” This indicates that the Department of Justice’s investigation of several Defendants is
ongoing.
THE LBOS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS IN THE CONSPIRACY

107. The conspiracy included 27 transactions. Seventeen of the 27 transactions were
public-to-private LBOs that are part of Plaintiffs’ overarching conspiracy damages class. The
remaining transactions are related transactions which further connect the deals in the overarching
damages class and also illustrate how “club rules” and “club etiquette” ordered Defendants’ conduct.

108. These large LBOs and buyout transactions, in chronological order, include Nalco,
Cablecom, Warner Music, PanAmSat, AMC Entertainment Inc. (‘AMC”), Loews, Toys “R” Us,
SunGard, Neiman Marcus, Texas Genco, Susquehanna, Education Management (“EDMC”),
Univision, Michaels Stores, HCA, Aramark, Kinder Morgan, Freescale, Philips Semiconductor
(“Philips™), Vivendi, Harrah’s, Clear Channel, Sabre, Biomet, TXU, Community Health Systems
(“CHS”), and Alltel. Allegaﬁons concerning each of the above deals and their relationship to the
conspiracy follow.

Nalco

109. The Nalco transaction, which involved the sale of a private company, highlights
central elements of Defendants’ conspiracy to restrain competition, particularly the use of quid pro
quo payback and Defendants’ willingness to manipulate the auction process and thereby share a deal
when the alternative (competition between Defendants) would have raised the price of the target

company.
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110. In early 2003, Suez SA (“Suez”) began evaluating a possible sale of its subsidiary,
Ondeo Nalco Co. (“Nalco™), a water treatment company. Suez invited certain private equity firms,
including Blackstone, Apollo, KKR and CDR, to participate in what was described as a “limited
Nalco auction.””> On March 27,2003, KKR signed a comprehensive non-disclosure agreement with
Suez which prohibited disclosure to “any person ... that you are contemplating a transaction with
Suez...””® Apollo and Blackstone signed similar agreements.”” The deadline to submit first round
bids for Nalco was August 1, 2003.

111.  Although Suez had previously insisted that bidders not partner together “in order to
create a more competitive auction process,””® Apollo ignored that directive and teamed up with
Goldman Sachs, which had previously served as its advisor, and which would later serve as a source
of debt financing for the deal. Apollo and Goldman Sachs jointly submitted a bid for Nalco, and
Blackstone submitted a bid on its own.

112.  KKR and CDR were considered “the favorite to win” the Nalco auction, but in a
surprising move, dropped out of the bidding process soon after the August 1 bid deadline, leaving
the consortium of Apollo and Goldman Sachs to bid against Blackstone for the company.™*

113. UBS, Suez’s advisor, informed the private equity firms that they would not be able to
join the winning bidders in a club. This restriction presumably would encourage firms to compete

aggressively, as there would be no other way to purchase any part of Nalco.

7 Lisa Gewirtz, Josh Kosman, and Samer Iskandar, “Apollo, Goldman stay in Suez deal,” The
Daily Deal, Sept. 4, 2003.

76 KKR DAHL 000599066.
7 APOLLO026638-42; BX-1214915-20.

78 Id
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114. Ignoring Suez’s auction rules, Stephen Schwarzman, Chairman and CEO of
Blackstone, and Leon Black, Chairman CEO of Apollo, entered into a secret bid-rigging agreement
whereby the Apollo/Goldman Sachs consortium would permit Blackstone to submit a “winning” bid
for Nalco in exchange for an award of a piece of Blackstone’s deal after the auction was closed.
This agreement was memorialized in multiple internal emails to and from senior executives for the
Defendants. As early as August 29, 2003, Rich Friedman, the head of Goldman Sachs® Merchant
Banking Division, observed in an internal email “On Nalco, it appears the other side is favoring
blackstone ... If B wins, we will likely get an opportunity to join. We don’t want to be played off
against them.”” On August 31, 2003, before Blackstone submitted the winning bid, Friedman
emailed Goldman executive Sanjeev Mehra (who subsequently organized efforts to dissuade
competitors in the Aramark “auction”), stating: “If steve s lives up to his word with leon, we and
apollo have an option. We'll see.”®® In a follow on email that same day, Friedman told Mehra:
“Leon claims we will be offered equal 1/3rd share of deal and fees.... You and josh should continue
to work closely together and we should channel our issues thru leon, as I haven’t had any dialogue
with Blackstone.”® True to this agreement, Blackstone consummated the acquisition of Nalco
without further competition and then let Apollo and Goldman Sachs come into the deal on the same
terms as Blackstone.

115. In the days leading up to the September 1 deadline for final bids, Leon Black and

Stephen Schwarzman were seen at a beach party where it was assumed by others in the industry that

[ GSPE00807181; GSPE00818412.
80 GSPE00755407.
81 GSPE00755407.
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they worked out their arrangement to rig the bidding for Nalco. On September 4, 2003, the day after
Apollo’s participation in Blackstone’s acquisition was announced in the press, Lazard LLC
managing director Jeffry Rosen emailed Schwarzman regarding “NALCO” and stated

“Congratulations ... I now appreciate why Leon and you were so deep in conversation at the beach

party.”82

116. It was Goldman Sachs’ understanding that Schwarzman and Black had an expectation
that Henry Kravis at KKR would cooperate and not jump their deal. Asked on the eve of final bids
“what happens to KKR,” Friedman at Goldman Sachs responded “We’ll see. It’ll be up to Leon and
Steve. Also, not KKR’s style. I don’t think Leon and Steve are figuring that Henry will play.”®
Three days earlier, on August 27, 2003, KKR had already shared its case models on Nalco, which it
considered propriety and highly confidential, with its “competitor” Blackstone.**

117. Knowing that their bid-rigging agreement violated their non-disclosure agreements
with Suez, violated Suez’s instructions that bidders not partner, and violated Suez’s directive that
losing bidders not join winning bidders, Blackstone, Apollo, and Goldman were careful to keep their
collusive activity secret from Sﬁez’s management until after Blackstone had inked its deal for the
purchase of the company. On September 3, 2003, after Blackstone had executed its purchase

agreement, Paul Graves emailed fellow Goldman Sachs executive John Vaske and asked, referring to

“Bradley” - David Bradley, a managing director at UBS, Suez/Nalco’s advisor on the transaction -

82 BX-1288773.
8 GSPE00807178.

84 Burke Decl., Ex. R, KKR DAHL 000609392-94.
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“Do they know we are talking to Blackstone?”® That same day, Graves noted to Goldman Sachs
executive Pete Lyons “I’m in a mgt presn with the ubs guy who was on suez’ side and ke alluded
this morning to not realizing we were joining B.”*® Lyons responded: “Itis a3 way deal but/ would
be careful about what you talk to him about as I do not who knows what yet at UBS and the company
is not doing a formal press release until tomorrow AM...but a lof has already leaked to the press
about GSxApollo joining B’Stone.” To this, Graves responded “I never say anything to Bradley ...
He’s good to get the inside track from though.”

118.  On September 4, 2003, it was announced that the Blackstone Group would acquire
Nalco from Suez. Although Blackstone could have executed the buyout of Nalco alone, it had
invited Apollo and Goldman Sachs to join it as equal partners in the Nalco deal, ignoring the prior
restriction set by the seller. Goldman Sachs understood that in joining forces with Blackstone and
Apollo prior to the submission of Blackstone’s bid, they were acting without the consent of
management. One executive executing the transaction noted in an August 7, 2003 email, “UBS to
this day has explicitly prohibited any formal partnering.”’

119. At least one Suez executive charged that Defendants Blackstone, Apollo and
Goldman Sachs had colluded during the auction process. On September 10, 2003, Rich Friedman
was forwarded an email in which Paul Schapira, a senior Goldman Sachs executive, recounted his

conversation with the Chief Finanical Officer of Suez, Gerard Lamarche: “Spent some time with

Gerard Lamarche last night and we talked briefly about Nalco. He sounded quite satisfied with the

85 GSPE 0085342.
86 GSPE00853432.
87 GSPE00804749-50 at 49.
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outcome and happy we had found a way into the deal. He was concerned that we had colluded with
Blackstone, but I think I was able to put his mind to rest on the issue. "

120. Thus, while Apollo and Goldman Sachs lost the auction to Blackstone, each was,
thanks to the secret deal worked out by Schwarzman and Black, able to take a major stake in the
company. Apollo purchased 36.8% of Nalco, the exact same amount purchased by auction-winner
Blackstone. Goldman Sachs received a 25.3% interest in Nalco, and it would also serve as a chief
source of debt financing on the deal.

121.  The private equity purchasers exited Nalco in 2004 and reaped a $992 million profit—
a 160% return on investment. These astronomical returns resulted in part from the private equity
firms’ agreement to structure the deal as a three-way investment rather than compete among
themselves.

122, After the Nalco deal, Leon Black of Apollo reminded Goldman Sachs that it “owed”
him for getting Goldman Sachs a piece of the deal. According to Goldman Sachs documents, Black
felt that a subsequent invitation to participate in the Kinder Morgan deal, when Goldman Sachs also
invited TPG, Carylyle, KKR and Blackstone to the party, was insufficient repayment for Apollo’s
Nalco favor.® Black insisted that he deserved more for his invitation into Nalco.”® Goldman Sachs

executives affirmed in an email exchange that Black was upset because of the “lack of reciprocity

from Nalco and Cablecom,” and that Goldman Sachs “truly need to involve them [Apollo] soonina
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